

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

1001 Queen St. West Toronto, Ontario Canada M6J 1H4 Tel: 416.535.8501

www.camh.ca

MENTAL HEALTH AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE POLICY FRAMEWORK

October 2020

A PAHO / WHO
Collaborating Centre

Fully affiliated with the University of Toronto

Table of contents

About CAMH	3
About this document	3
Executive Summary	4
Why mental health and criminal justice policy is important	5
What we know	6
Prevention	6
Policing	8
Court Supports and Specialized Courts	13
Forensic Mental Health	17
The Corrections System	21
The Forensic Early Intervention Service: Improving mental health care in Ontario jails	25
What we can do	31
Principles for a comprehensive approach to mental health and criminal justice	31
Suggested citation	35
For more information	35
References	36

About CAMH

The Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH) is Canada's largest mental health teaching hospital and one of the world's leading research centres in its field. CAMH conducts groundbreaking research, provides expert training to healthcare professionals and scientists, develops innovative health promotion and prevention strategies and advocates on public policy issues with all levels of government.

CAMH's strategic plan for 2020-2023, <u>One CAMH</u>, re-affirms our commitment to promoting public policies that are responsive to the needs of people with mental illness, including substance use disorders. As one of the three pillars of this plan, CAMH is committed to 'Inspire' by building a world where prejudice and discrimination that create barriers to belonging for people with mental health illness no longer exist — a world where Mental Health *is* Health. CAMH aims to be a champion for health equity, social justice and inclusion. To help achieve these goals, CAMH communicates evidence-based policy advice to stakeholders and policymakers.

About this document

This report is part of a series of policy framework documents that review evidence, summarize the current environment and propose evidence-informed principles to guide public policy in Ontario.* It updates CAMH's 2013 *Mental Health and Criminal Justice Policy Framework* to reflect and account for new evidence and recent policy developments. Its purpose is to provide a model for mental health and criminal justice policies that effectively address the criminalization of mental illness and to inform federal and provincial initiatives in this area.

^{*} The other CAMH policy frameworks focus on alcohol, cannabis, housing, prescription opioids, primary care and problem gambling. They can be found at be https://www.camh.ca/en/driving-change/influencing-public-policy

Executive Summary

There are numerous and interconnected reasons why people with mental illness are over-represented in the criminal justice system, including structural poverty, racism and trauma. A lack of access to mental health care and supports is another crucial factor. Without access to care and supports some people with mental illness may commit crimes or behave in ways that draw police attention to their unusual behaviours. How police respond to these interactions is an early predictor of the likelihood of further involvement in the criminal justice system and how the court system reacts further sets the course. If a person with mental illness ends up in jail, they frequently experience more severe symptoms of their illness. They can also become isolated from community supports and services, are at increased risk of homelessness upon discharge and are more likely to come back into contact with the criminal justice system.

To break the cycle and reduce the criminalization of people with mental illness we need to address the range of factors that contribute to the over-representation of people with mental illness in the criminal justice system, including structural poverty and institutionalized racism. While we touch on these important issues in this paper, our main focus is the intersecting mental health and criminal justice components of the criminalization of mental illness. We look at the importance of a well-resourced, comprehensive and integrated mental health care system. We highlight the need for police officers who can respond safely and compassionately when interacting with people with mental illness in the community. We talk about court support services and specialized courts that can help people with mental illness participate fully in court proceedings that affect them. Our paper provides clarity on the Not Criminally Responsible (NCR) designation and notes the crucial role of a well-connected and well-resourced forensic mental health system. And we highlight the ongoing struggle that people with mental illness experience when trying to access mental health care and supports in the federal and provincial corrections systems.

Our paper concludes by offering governments and decision-makers guidance for developing public policies that will reduce the criminalization of people with mental illness. The following six principles for a comprehensive approach to mental health and criminal justice are provided:

- 1. Preventing people with mental illness from entering the criminal justice system must be a priority
- 2. People with mental illness who become involved in the criminal justice system should have access to range of diversion and release options
- 3. People with mental illness in the corrections system should receive evidence-informed mental health care and supports
- 4. People with mental illness involved in the criminal justice system should be treated with respect and dignity and their safety made paramount
- 5. There should be collaboration and coordination between the criminal justice system and the mental health system
- 6. Policy decisions should be evidence-informed and research should be supported

Why mental health and criminal justice policy is important

People with mental illness, including those with substance use disorders, are over-represented in the criminal justice system. This over-representation is increasing over time. The reasons why people with mental illness end up in the criminal justice system are numerous and interconnected. Societal factors such as stigma, structural poverty, racism (particularly anti-Black and anti-Indigenous racism), inadequate housing and trauma can increase risk, as can co-occurring mental health and substance use problems. Policing and criminal justice policy can also increase criminal justice involvement. As well, there are instances when mental illnesses result in behaviours that lead to a criminal justice response. The overrepresentation of people with mental illness in the criminal justice system is often referred to as the "criminalization" of mental illness.

While the criminalization of mental illness is associated with a wide variety of social factors that disproportionately affect people with mental illness (e.g. structural poverty, racism, criminal justice policy), the mental health sector also plays a role. Specifically, lack of access to appropriate mental health treatment and supports is a crucial factor that can contribute to the criminalization of people with mental illness. Without access to supports and services, some people with mental illness may commit crimes or draw police attention to their unusual behaviours. How police respond to these interactions is an early predictor of the likelihood of further involvement in the criminal justice system and how the court system reacts further sets this course. If a person with mental illness ends up in jail, they frequently experience more severe symptoms of their illness, can become isolated from community supports and services and are at increased risk of homelessness upon discharge. They are also reliant upon mental health services in the corrections system, which are inadequate. Involvement in the criminal justice system further increases the stigma and discrimination that people with mental illness already experience.

It is imperative that the criminalization of people with mental illness be addressed and that individuals receive the support, care and treatment that they need and to which they are entitled. To reduce the criminalization of people with mental illness we need public policies that focus on: addressing structural poverty and institutionalized racism; preventing involvement in the criminal justice system; ensuring diversion opportunities are available and accessible; and providing equitable mental health care and supports in correctional facilities.

In this paper we focus on the intersecting mental health and criminal justice components of the criminalization of mental illness. Other issues of direct relevance (anti-Black and anti-Indigenous racism; structural poverty; drug policy) will be touched on but will be addressed in more detail through other policy and advocacy work from CAMH.

What we know

Prevention

Preventing people with mental illness from becoming involved in the criminal justice system requires governments to make mental health care a priority, particularly services for people with serious mental illness. Experts agree that a well-resourced, comprehensive and integrated mental health care system can help people with mental illness get the care and supports that they need to remain in their communities and avoid the criminal justice system. Evidence further suggests that targeted interventions for people with mental illness who have other risk factors that increase their likelihood of criminal justice involvement (e.g. untreated schizophrenia, substance use disorder, history of anti-social behaviour) can reduce the chances that these individuals become involved in the criminal justice system. Efforts to prevent the criminalization of people with mental illness also need to address the social determinants of health. People with mental illness who are homeless are more likely to become involved in the criminal justice system, pointing to the crucial need for better access to affordable and supportive housing for people with mental illness.

Community crisis response

A key component of an integrated mental health system, and crucial for preventing the criminalization of people with mental illness, is rapid access to community crisis response. Right now, in part because of underfunding in the mental health system, people with mental illness who experience a crisis in the community are met by police. Dispatching police to a person experiencing a mental health crisis implies that such behaviours are dangerous or criminal and that force is the required and appropriate response (rather than compassion and understanding). It also increases stigma. Being met by police can heighten apprehension and fear in those experiencing a crisis and pose real risk of physical or psychological harm particularly amongst Indigenous, Black and other racialized people. Further, police officers are not trained in mental health crisis response to the extent of health care workers, nor should they receive this level of training. Police are not mental health crisis workers and should not be expected to take on this additional role. In some cases, police may be able to refer people in crisis to a mobile crisis intervention team (MCIT) which pairs a specially trained police officer with a mental health clinician who can provide assessment, support and referral services (see more on MCITs in the Police section). The concern amongst experts and advocates, however, is that MCITs are still a criminal justice-led response to a health crisis and they perpetuate stigma. As CAMH and others have noted, a mental health crisis should be met with an emergency health care response, just like a physical health crisis.⁹

There are a variety of international community crisis response models, though limited research has been conducted on these models. In the United Kingdom, for example, Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams consisting of a variety of mental health professionals provide intensive home support for people experiencing acute mental health crises and in Sweden, the Psychiatric Emergency Response Team of specialized nurses and paramedics arrives via mental health ambulance to provide support to people experiencing severe mental health crises in the community. Both of these community crisis response models receive positive feedback from service users. ¹⁰ In Toronto, service users speak highly of the Gerstein Centre mobile crisis team where peers with lived experience of mental illness provide care and support to people experiencing a crisis in the community.

One community crisis response model that is receiving attention recently is Crisis Assistance Helping Out on the Street (CAHOOTS). Established in Eugene, Oregon in 1989, the CAHOOTS team, consisting of a medic and crisis worker, is dispatched through the 911 communications centre to provide immediate stabilization and support to people experiencing a mental health crisis in the community. Police back-up is available if needed, but is requested in less than 1% of cases. ¹¹ Use of the CAHOOTS team contributes to cost savings in Eugene's annual public safety and health spending. ¹²

Despite the limited evidence available on the efficacy of community crisis response models and the need for more research in the area, there is promise that this health focused approach to mental health crises can assist in preventing people with mental illness from involvement with the criminal justice system.

Policing

A historical lack of investment in prevention strategies means that interactions between police and people with mental illness are a common occurrence. In fact, police are often described as informal first responders of the mental health system due to the frequency with which they interact with people with mental illness in the community. Across Canada, 5% of police encounters involve people with mental illness. In Toronto, that number increases to 15%. Interactions between police and people with mental illness are increasing over time. Between 2007 and 2013, the Ontario Provincial Police saw a 42% increase in mental health calls with a corresponding 65% increase in the time officers spent responding to these calls. Police interact with people with mental illness for a variety of reasons. One study found that 60% of police encounters with people with mental illness involve some type of alleged criminal behaviour (20% violent crime; 40% non-violent crime), while the remaining 40% of encounters involve mental health crises, bizarre behaviours, and/or criminal victimization.

The vast majority of encounters between police and people with mental illness are resolved without incident. Unfortunately, when more complicated situations arise, the results can be tragic. Between 2000 and 2016, more than 40 people with mental illness were fatally shot by police in Ontario. ¹⁹ Of the 461 fatal police encounters in Canada between 2000 and 2017, more than 70% of victims had a mental illness. ²⁰ Black and Indigenous people with mental illness are over-represented amongst victims of fatal police interactions, ²¹ though a thorough analysis of the intersection between mental illness and race in the context of police interactions is difficult because this data is not always available.

For people with mental illness, encounters with police can lead to further and ongoing involvement in the criminal justice system or forensic mental health system. That is why preventing involvement with the criminal justice system in the first place is so important. Yet even with investments in prevention strategies, some people with mental illness will come in contact with police in the community and police must be equipped to respond to these interactions safely and compassionately. Fortunately, police have considerable discretion in determining how to address and resolve their interactions with people with mental illness. Applying de-escalation techniques and having access to pre-charge diversion options can help avoid injury or death when people with mental illness are in crisis in the community (or in some cases when they are at risk of crisis). Pre-charge diversion can also be used to assist people with mental illness accused of minor crimes or provincial offences to avoid further criminalization.

De-escalation

Standard police responses that typically diffuse high stress encounters with members of the public can be ineffective or provoke further agitation when applied to a person experiencing a mental health crisis. ²² For this reason, de-escalation through communication and negotiation is well-recognized by experts, including people with mental illness, as the preferred response when police encounter a person experiencing a mental health crisis in the community. ²³ Calming a person in crisis, or preventing them from further escalation, diffuses the immediate risk and allows police to consider resolving the situation without further criminal justice involvement.

Intensive training in de-escalation techniques has been shown to have a positive effect on officers' attitudes and knowledge about mental illness, better preparing police to respond to situations involving people in crisis and increasing the likelihood that they will connect these individuals to mental health services. ²⁴ The challenge is that de-escalation training is not standardized in Canada and the content and frequency of instruction varies from organization to organization. ²⁵ Experts recommend that police use-of-force training include a focus on de-escalation and emphasize non-physical interventions, especially for people experiencing a mental health crisis. ²⁶ In Ontario, however, most police use-of-force training focuses on the use of weapons with limited time dedicated to teaching officers how to de-escalate situations through communication and negotiation. ²⁷ A further challenge is that even when police organizations have enhanced their de-escalation training there remain concerns that this training is not always translated into practice.

Given the potential for de-escalation to save lives and reduce harm, experts have recommended that provincial governments standardize and mandate police de-escalation training²⁸, that this training be trauma-informed and it be designed and delivered by experts including people with lived experience of mental illness.²⁹ Having people with lived experience participate in the delivery of de-escalation training is particularly important given that research shows that direct engagement with people with lived experience of mental illness also helps to address stigma and discrimination.³⁰ In addition, experts have recommended that governments make de-escalation the *required* response when police interact with a person experiencing a mental health crisis³¹ (when it is safe to do so) as opposed to the *preferred* response. Such a condition may result in better translation of de-escalation training into practice. Research looking at innovative approaches to police de-escalation training, such as physiological stress control in conjunction with scenario-based training, also show promise for improving the use of de-escalation techniques in the field.³²

Less lethal force

Discussions on police de-escalation techniques often make reference to less lethal force options such as Conducted Energy Weapons (CEWs), but the use of any type of force should not be equated to de-escalation.³³ While CEWs (commonly known as TASERs) do give police a less lethal option in encounters involving agitation or aggression, they are still weapons and their use is not without risk or lasting psychological injury – particularly for people who are experiencing a mental health crisis.

Mental health advocates have expressed concern that when police have access to CEWs they will by-pass non-violent techniques to calm or subdue a person experiencing a mental health crisis, essentially using force in situations that actually warrant de-escalation. Such fears are reinforced by evidence indicating that police are two times more likely to use CEWs at mental health emergencies than at criminal arrests³⁴and CEWs are used 28% more frequently on people with mental illness than those without.³⁵ In Ontario, advocates have expressed concern about the potential for overuse of CEWs on people experiencing a mental health crisis due to the relatively low threshold for CEW use in the province.³⁶ Experts have recommended a review and refinement of this threshold.³⁷ A high profile review of CEW use in British Columbia, for example, recommended that officers be prohibited from using CEWs unless a person is causing serious bodily harm or an officer reasonably believes that a person's behaviour will imminently cause bodily harm.³⁸ The review also recommended prohibiting use of CEWs unless deescalation and other lesser force options have not been, or will not be, effective at eliminating the risk of serious bodily harm.³⁹

There are concerns about the health effects of CEWs on people with mental illness. While research on this topic is limited, some evidence indicates that people with mental illness and/or those using substances may be at greater risk of death after being shocked by a CEW.⁴⁰ It has also been proposed that medications used by people with mental illness may increase their risk of death by CEW.⁴¹ People with lived experience of mental illness have also noted that CEWs can cause psychological trauma.

Other less lethal force options that have been recommended by some coroner's juries and people with lived experience of mental illness include sock rounds/beanbag guns and shields. ⁴² Shields in particular show promise for containing people and creating opportunities for further de-escalation attempts. ⁴³ Sock rounds/beanbag guns and shields are still physical force options, however, and should be considered only after initial attempts at verbal de-escalation have been unsuccessful.

Pre-charge diversion

Pre-charge diversion occurs when police officers connect people with mental illness to treatment and supports instead of involving them further in the criminal justice system. Pre-charge diversion is a key factor in addressing the criminalization of people with mental illness because it promotes early intervention and respects an individual's right to access basic needs, such as health care.⁴⁴

Police look at several factors when determining whether to arrest someone or divert them to the mental health system: the seriousness of the offense; whether the individual is known to police; and whether or not there is a risk of harm to the individual or someone else. Police also use a variety of pre-charge diversion options including connecting the individual to local community mental health services; escorting the individual home; involving crisis response services to take over custody of the individual; or apprehending the individual under the Mental Health Act (MHA) and escorting them to an emergency room.⁴⁵

Most police services in Ontario have access to pre-charge diversion options, ⁴⁶ but they are inconsistent across the province and their availability is dependent on the police service as well as the mental health and social services available in the community. ⁴⁷ Even when pre-charge diversion options are available, they are not always well used ⁴⁸ and there is risk of systematic bias. A lack of community services to refer people to can deter police from using diversion options ⁴⁹ and a lack of culturally appropriate mental health services for Indigenous and racialized communities limits police ability to connect people with supports that actually meet their needs. ⁵⁰

Police may be hesitant to take people experiencing a mental health crisis to an emergency department due to long wait times, belief that the person will not meet the committal criteria or concern that the person will be admitted but rapidly discharged. Officers may also be reluctant to accompany a person in crisis to the emergency department because they know that their presence can increase the stigma of mental illness, particularly for Indigenous and racialized peoples. Experts have noted that establishing a formal transfer of care protocol between police services and hospital emergency departments can help improve communication and reduce wait times for police.

A common pre-charge diversion option used by police is crisis response services.⁵⁴ In Canada, the most common model is the MCIT in which a specially trained police officer and mental health clinician co-respond to a person experiencing a crisis in the community.⁵⁵ MCITs are typically brought in to provide support after the police primary response unit has assessed the situation. There are MCITs who are first responders in mental health crisis situations (e.g. Hamilton's Mobile Crisis Rapid Response Team), but such models are not common in Canada

despite commendation from the Mental Health Commission of Canada.⁵⁶ Common criticisms of MCITs include their lack of universal availability to all police services; limited staffing and hours;⁵⁷ and the need for greater peer involvement.⁵⁸ Also, as noted in the Prevention section, MCITs remain a criminal justice-lead response to a health crisis.

Another concern with MCITs is the lack of program standards. The elements and activities vary amongst teams making it difficult to identify the core components for success and evaluate outcomes. The limited evidence that does exist demonstrates that MCITs build strong links with community services and reduce pressure on the justice system. The teams are also viewed positively by people with mental illness and their families. The teams are also viewed positively by people with mental illness and their families. Though an evaluation of are able to prevent crisis escalation or minimize injuries is limited, though an evaluation of Toronto's MCITs found that injuries occurred in only 2% of interactions and that they were usually minor and self-inflicted. It is also uncertain whether or not MCITs are able to reduce hospitalizations (and whether or not this is actually a shortcoming if people who need hospitalization actually receive it), though MCITs are more likely to bring people with mental illness to hospital voluntarily than regular police units.

Court Supports and Specialized Courts

The criminal justice system is complex and challenging to navigate, especially for many people with mental illness. The Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) requires that courts be accessible and accommodate those with disabilities, yet people with mental illness continue to experience barriers to full participation in court proceedings that affect them. Some individuals receive assistance from court support services and/or have the opportunity to participate in specialized courts. A key component of both court support services and specialized courts is post-charge diversion - linking people with mental illness to appropriate mental health treatment and supports with the goal of preventing further involvement in the criminal justice system. 66 The challenge is that the numerous iterations of post-charge diversion programs make it difficult to identify best practices⁶⁷ as well as determine the overall effectiveness of these diversion programs.⁶⁸ There is concern among some experts, for example, that post-charge diversion programs do not actually reduce the number of people with mental illness who are remanded in custody (i.e. even those individuals who have access to post-charge diversion may have to wait in jail before participating in the program), therefore not truly 'diverting' people from the criminal justice system. While more research on postcharge diversion programs is clearly needed, some positive outcomes have been associated with participation in court support services, mental health courts, drug treatment courts and Gladue Courts.

Court support services

Court support services typically consist of court support workers (mental health professionals with knowledge of the legal system), lawyers, and Crown attorneys who work together to stay charges for individuals who have a mental illness and low-risk charges and who can be connected to supports and treatment in the community. ⁶⁹ While client outcome data on court support services is limited, the evidence that does exist demonstrates that these programs increase access to mental health services, improve mental health functioning and outcomes, and reduce recidivism, hospitalizations and pressure on the criminal justice system. ⁷⁰ An evaluation of a court support service in Ontario found that clients who received services had less severe mental health symptoms, a reduced likelihood of homelessness, better ability to live independently in the community and more favourable legal outcomes. Upon discharge from the service, only 4% of clients were incarcerated and 2% were in the forensic mental health system. The service was also credited with making the court process more effective and efficient. ⁷¹

Effectiveness of court support services can be compromised if court support workers are unable to link people with mental illness to psychiatrists and hospitals in the community or if people have to wait a long time for services and/or do not receive all of the services that they need.⁷²

Limited resources can also make it difficult to provide court support services to everyone in need.⁷³

While most court support services are affiliated with a community mental health agency, Legal Aid Ontario (LAO) initiated its own court support-type service to increase access to justice for marginalized individuals. The 'C' Court project operates out of the Old City Hall courthouse in Toronto. A LAO staff lawyer and paralegal provide legal representation to people with mental illness who are homeless and who have been charged with offences in Provincial Offences Court. The goal is to make sure these individuals are not fined or jailed for minor offenses and instead are connected to community resources. In its first year of operation, none of the 141 clients supported through 'C' Court were fined or sentenced to jail and 86% had their charges withdrawn or stayed.⁷⁴

Mental Health Courts

Mental health courts are essentially a more formalized court support service that includes participation from a judge and convene regularly in a dedicated courtroom on a dedicated schedule.⁷⁵ While there are various models of mental health courts, most of them typically use a multi-disciplinary team approach to connect individuals with mental illness accused of crimes to treatment and supports, often with the goal of diversion from further involvement in the criminal justice system.⁷⁶ Ontario's 19 mental health courts vary in terms of proceedings, client eligibility criteria, court resources and meeting frequency, but all share a common goal of connecting offenders with mental illness to the treatment and supports that they need and diverting them from further involvement in the criminal justice system when possible.⁷⁷

Mental health courts have demonstrated success in connecting individuals to treatment and supports, ⁷⁸ and some evidence shows that they are able to reduce recidivism rates, particularly those courts that have case management services. ⁷⁹ Research also suggests that mental health courts that have broader jurisdiction to impose treatment and monitoring and address issues related to substance use, housing, and social assistance can reduce recidivism. ⁸⁰ The judge's role as an authority figure that treats participants with dignity and respect is also thought to be a factor that reduces recidivism in this style of court. ⁸¹

There are concerns about equitable access to mental health courts. Evidence from the US indicates that white males are over-represented in mental health courts, 82 despite the fact that racialized men are over-represented in the broader criminal justice system. 83 While Canada's race-based criminal justice data is limited, experts (including racialized people with mental illness who have been involved in the justice system) believe this could be a concern in this country as well. 84

It is worth noting that the mental health court in Kenora has practices in place to better serve Indigenous peoples. This court uses videoconferencing for assessment and intake so that Indigenous individuals do not need to leave their communities to participate in court processes.⁸⁵

Drug Treatment Courts

Similar to mental health courts, drug treatment courts are formalized court settings where judges, Crown attorneys, duty counsel and community partners work together to divert offenders with substance use disorders from further involvement in the criminal justice system and into treatment and other community supports. ⁸⁶ The main goals of these courts are to reduce substance use, recidivism and system costs. ⁸⁷ Drug treatment courts typically serve offenders with serious drug addictions who have committed non-violent offenses. ⁸⁸ In exchange for having their criminal charges stayed, participants in drug treatment courts must participate in an addiction treatment program, undergo random drug testing, make regular court appearances (where a judge reviews their progress and can reward or sanction the individual), and gain control over their substance use. ⁸⁹

A review of drug treatment courts in the US and Canada found that they are successful at reducing recidivism rates compared to traditional criminal justice responses. ⁹⁰ An evaluation of the Toronto Drug Treatment Court found that less than 15% of graduates reoffended compared to 90% in a control group. Interestingly, this evaluation also found that people who were actively engaged in the program, but did not graduate (i.e. continued to use substances to some degree), had lower rates of reoffending, decreased their substance use and increased their quality of life. ⁹¹ This finding may moderate concerns that a substantial number of drug treatment court participants do not actually graduate from the program. ⁹² CAMH reporting also found that the Toronto Drug Treatment Court was successful at reducing participants' use of detox, ambulance and emergency room services.

A major concern for the 24 drug treatment courts across Canada is funding. Between 2006 and 2014, the Toronto Drug Treatment Court received no funding increases. This resulted in a decrease in the number of full-time addiction support specialists available to provide treatment to participants at the same time the program experienced a 35% increase in the number of participants. In 2015, the Toronto Drug Treatment Court experienced a 20% reduction in funding which contributed to further staffing reductions and a decrease in the number of clients served. Experts note that other drug treatment courts across the country are also struggling to sustain their services.

Gladue Courts

Gladue Courts are not just for people with mental illness, but are worth mentioning as a post-charge diversion opportunity for Indigenous offenders. ⁹³ Gladue Courts are part of a broader initiative to address the over-representation of Indigenous individuals in the criminal justice system, many of whom are impacted by mental illness and trauma as a result of colonial policies and practices. ⁹⁴ In Gladue Courts, judges take into consideration systemic background factors that have had an impact on an Indigenous offender and prioritize restorative justice options that align with Indigenous approaches to justice. ⁹⁵

Gladue Courts are recognized as the most successful strategy amongst a range of Gladue initiatives across the country. ⁹⁶ An evaluation of the Gladue Court at Old City Hall in Toronto found that it was meeting all of its objectives, including: avoiding unnecessary pre-trial detention; encouraging effective and culturally appropriate alternatives to incarceration; engaging individuals in the development of their resolution plans; and providing opportunities for Indigenous agencies to engage in rehabilitation of individuals from their communities. ⁹⁷ The evaluation concluded that the Gladue Court and its associated programs and services were 'providing a critically important service to [Indigenous] individuals, their families and the larger [Indigenous] community and should be seen as a model for the development of similar initiatives across Ontario and across Canada'. ⁹⁸

Forensic Mental Health

People who have committed offenses but are found by a court to be 'Unfit to Stand Trial' (UST) or 'Not Criminally Responsible on Account of Mental Disorder' (NCR) are diverted from the criminal justice system and into the forensic mental health care system. A person is deemed UST if they are unable, due to a mental disorder, to understand the trial process, understand the possible outcomes of their trial, or communicate with their lawyer. Individuals who are UST enter the forensic mental health system, and may be offered treatment or services to support them in becoming fit to stand trial. A person may be deemed NCR if, at the time of the offence, they suffered from a mental illness that made them incapable of appreciating the nature or quality of their actions, or knowing what they were doing was wrong. Similar to people found UST, NCR offenders enter the forensic mental health system where they are provided with rehabilitation and offered treatment for their mental illness. NCR cases account for less than 1% of all adult criminal court cases each year in Canada. 99 Despite this small number, most people in the forensic mental health system have an NCR designation as opposed to a UST designation. 100

The NCR Regime

The overarching goal of Canada's NCR regime is to protect public safety while ensuring that people with mental illness who have offended get the treatment and rehabilitation that they need. Once a court finds that an individual is NCR, they are diverted from the criminal justice system and come under the jurisdiction of a provincial or territorial review board. The review board conducts a hearing for each individual under its jurisdiction and makes one of three dispositions: an absolute discharge; a conditional discharge; or a detention order. The review board must make the disposition that is "necessary and appropriate in the circumstances", taking into account public safety (its paramount consideration) as well as the offender's mental condition, their re-integration into society, and other needs. If the person is not a "significant threat to the safety of the public", the review board must order an absolute discharge. In 2014, the NCR Reform Act was passed which created a category of "high-risk accused". A court may find an offender who has been found NCR to be "high-risk" if certain criteria are met. If this finding is made, the offender is subject to significant restrictions on their ability to leave the hospital, and the time for holding their review board hearings may be extended up to 36 months from the typical 12 months.

Initially, most NCR offenders receive a detention order (~57%) or a conditional discharge (~33%). ¹⁰¹ These individuals come under the care and supervision of a designated forensic hospital, which must create a program of rehabilitation and offer treatment and reintegration

opportunities as appropriate. At annual hearings, the review board reviews the individual's mental condition, evaluates their potential risk to public safety, and determines if there should be a change in their disposition order. Individuals given an absolute discharge are no longer subject to the jurisdiction of the review board or the criminal courts, however, they can receive follow up psychiatric care within the civil mental health system. Less than 10% of NCR offenders receive an absolute discharge at their first review board hearing. For others, the process of obtaining an absolute discharge can take much longer and some may never obtain one. A cross Canada study found that all NCR individuals remained under the review board for at least six months, 60% stayed longer than five years and 23% stayed longer than 10 years. Individuals who commit non-violent or less serious violent offenses move through the review board system more quickly than those who commit serious, violent offenses.

Courts in Quebec render more NCR verdicts as compared to Ontario and B.C., raising questions about consistency in how NCR provisions of the Criminal Code are interpreted and applied. There are also significant differences in the trajectories of NCR offenders across the country, leading experts to call for better collaboration and integration at the national level. 106

Who are the people found NCR?

Most NCR individuals (94%) have a serious mental illness such as a psychotic spectrum disorder¹⁰⁷ and many also have a concurrent mental health and substance use disorder.¹⁰⁸ About 2/3 of NCR individuals' index offenses involve crimes against the person (e.g. major assault, uttering threats), though the proportion who have committed serious violence is low¹⁰⁹ and is decreasing over time.¹¹⁰ Murder accounts for 1% of all NCR cases, attempted murder 3% and sexual assault 5%.¹¹¹ Family members are usually the victims in NCR cases involving crimes against the person.¹¹²

The recidivism rate for people designated NCR is relatively low (17% after 3 years) with those who commit severe violent index offenses being the least likely to reoffend (6% after 3 years). Comparably, the recidivism rate in the corrections system is known to range from about 23%-37%. People who have committed more crimes prior to their NCR index offense as well as those with concurrent mental health and substance use problems are at greater risk of re-offending. Those who are still under the review board are less likely to re-offend than individuals who have received an absolute discharge. Less than 1% of re-offenses involve a severe violent crime.

The profile of NCR individuals is changing over time with an increasing number of young people of diverse ethno-racial backgrounds with substance use disorders who have committed relatively low-level violent crimes entering the forensic system. ¹¹⁸ This suggests that mental

health treatment and rehabilitation may need to be tailored to meet the needs of this changing demographic. ¹¹⁹ Similarly, women who have been designated NCR tend to have different mental health diagnoses than men (e.g. they have a greater likelihood of a mood disorder or personality disorder) and greater psychosocial functioning which could signal the need for gender-specific forensic services. ¹²⁰ Finally, there are fewer Indigenous individuals in the NCR system than would be expected due to their over-representation in the criminal justice system as a whole, indicating that this defense may be under-used with this population. ¹²¹

The forensic system

Canada's forensic mental health system offers people who have been designated UST and NCR with the treatment and rehabilitation that they need to become well. These programs operate similarly to civil mental health programs and are based on the principles of psychosocial rehabilitation and clinical best practices. While UST and NCR cases comprise only a fraction of all cases passing through the criminal justice system, the number of people in the forensic mental health system has increased substantially since the original NCR law was introduced in 1991. From 1992 to 2004, there was a 102% increase in the number of cases admitted to review boards across Canada. 123

Ontario's forensic system is one example of a provincial/territorial forensic mental health system that is under particular strain. Between 1987 and 2007 yearly admissions to the Ontario Review Board (ORB) rose at an average of 6.5% each year, 124 though there was a 30% decline in new cases between 2007 and 2012. 125 Even though the number of new forensic patients is decreasing somewhat, the forensic system remains under intense pressure as average length of inpatient stay is rising and time to absolute discharge appears to be increasing as well. As a result of both new and ongoing forensic cases, the total number of people under the ORB increased from 400 in 1992 to approximately 1750 in 2012. 126

The increasing number of people under the ORB consistently outpaces resources within the forensic system and diminishes the ability of forensic mental health services to provide patients with the best possible care and treatment. CAMH's outdated forensic inpatient facilities are overflowing and typically run at a 102% occupancy rate. This means that there can be lengthy wait times for inpatient beds and patients have to wait in higher security settings than their clinical needs require. It also means that CAMH is unable to accommodate individuals with serious mental illness who are in correctional facilities and need acute inpatient treatment. The high inpatient occupancy rate is also due to a lack of mental health supportive housing for forensic patients who have been approved for community living by the ORB. These individuals remain in hospital instead of being able to take the next step in their treatment and rehabilitation by living in the community under forensic outpatient care.

To ease bed pressure and improve treatment for clients, CAMH has focused on building partnerships and strengthening integration with community resources. CAMH has also implemented creative solutions such as the development of transitional rehabilitative housing that allows for greater community integration of low-risk clients while maximizing the use of inpatient forensic services for clients who are higher risk and have more complex mental illnesses. Unfortunately, there is still not enough mental health supportive housing to meet the growing demand on the forensic system, or the mental health system more generally. CAMH's forensic inpatient units are also not able to meet these demands and are in need of expansion and modernization to improve safety and meet the changing needs of forensic patients.

The Corrections System

Due to systemic bias, a lack of pre-charge diversion, challenges in the court system and/or because of the nature of their crimes, a significant number of people with mental illness end up in the corrections system where the mental health care that they receive, or do not receive, can break or reinforce the cycle of criminalization.

Whatever pathway has led to incarceration, all people with mental illness in provincial correctional facilities (for those on remand or those serving sentences less than two years) and federal correctional facilities (for those serving sentences greater than two years) have a fundamental right to health care, including mental health care. The UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners (the 'Mandela Rules') states that prisoners should have access to the same standard of health care that is available in the community and that clinical decisions are to be made by health care professionals. In Canada, the Corrections and Conditional Release Act, 1992 outlines the obligations of the federal corrections system to provide health care to offenders and in Ontario, the Ministry of Correctional Services Act, 1990 outlines the health care duties of the provincial corrections system. (It should be noted that the Correctional Services Transformation Act, 2018 was passed in the Ontario legislature in May 2018 that updated the obligations of the province when it comes to health care in provincial correctional facilities, but this law has yet to come into force). Despite these obligations, there are people with mental illness in both the federal and provincial corrections systems who are not receiving the mental health care that they need and this can compromise their successful re-integration back into the community.

Mental illness, suicide and overdose

Mental illness is 2 to 3 times more common in Canadian correctional facilities than in the general population. ¹²⁷ In 2016, 26% of males in the federal corrections system had a mental health need and 50% of females had a mental health need. ¹²⁸ By 2018, almost 80% of female offenders in federal corrections met the criteria for a mental illness. ¹²⁹ Serious substance use problems are also seen in 80% of newly admitted offenders. ¹³⁰ In Ontario's provincial corrections system about 35% of offenders have a mental health alert on their file and amongst female offenders, this increases to 50%. ¹³¹ The percentage of Ontario's offender population with a mental health alert has increased by an average of 6% a year since 1998/1999. ¹³²

Deaths related to mental illness are an ongoing concern in correctional facilities. The suicide rate in federal prisons is approximately five times the national average. ¹³³ Suicide is the most common type of non-natural death among federal offenders and accounted for about 12% of all deaths in correctional facilities in 2018/2019. ¹³⁴ Between 2009/2010 and 2015/2016, 67 federal offenders died by suicide and the majority of them had an identified mental illness

(76%) and/or a history of substance misuse (76%). ¹³⁵ In 35% of cases, the offender had recently experienced a change in their psychiatric medication. ¹³⁶

Suicide deaths are decreasing as a portion of non-natural deaths in federal prisons, but that is corresponding with an increase in overdose deaths. ¹³⁷ Between 2012/2013 and 2016/2017 there were 330 overdoses in federal corrections, of which 7% were fatal. ¹³⁸ Opioids were involved in 91% of fatal overdoses with fentanyl being the most common substance. ¹³⁹ Offenders involved in overdoses had histories of substance use, mental illness and self-injurious behaviours. ¹⁴⁰

Female, Indigenous and Black offenders

Female and Indigenous offenders are more likely to have complex, severe mental illness.¹⁴¹ Fifty percent (50%) of women in federal prisons have histories of self-harming behaviour, over 50% have current or previous substance use disorders, 85% have histories of physical abuse and 68% have histories of sexual abuse.¹⁴² While female offenders are involved in less than 1% of overdose incidents¹⁴³, most of those who are involved in these incidents have histories of mental illness, including substance use disorder.¹⁴⁴

Over 50% of Indigenous offenders have received a mental health service in federal prison. 145 Indigenous offenders are overrepresented in self-injurious incidents, suicide attempts 146 and suicides¹⁴⁷ and are more likely to be segregated than other offenders.¹⁴⁸ Almost all Indigenous female offenders have a mental health diagnosis (93.7%) and most (92%) have moderate or high substance use needs. 149 Indigenous female offenders are also overrepresented in overdose incidents. 150 Indigenous peoples are overrepresented in Canada's corrections system as a whole and this overrepresentation has increased significantly over the past 10 years. 151 Indigenous adults account for 5% of the general population, but account for over 30% of federally sentenced offenders. 152 Indigenous women account for 42% of federally sentenced female offenders, ¹⁵³ a population that has increased by almost 74% over the past 10 years. ¹⁵⁴ In Ontario, Indigenous people make up 2% of the population, but account for 13% percent of the province's corrections population. 155 The criminalization of Indigenous peoples is a lasting effect of colonialism that must be addressed more broadly, however the significant number of Indigenous individuals currently in prison and their high rates of mental illness, substance misuse, self-injurious behaviour and suicide indicate that there are serious mental health needs in this population that must also be addressed.

There is very little information on the experience of racialized offenders in Canada's prisons and particularly on their need for and ability to access mental health care. What is known is that Black Canadians make up 3% of the population, but account for 8% of federally sentenced offenders. ¹⁵⁶ Similar to Indigenous offenders, the criminalization of Black people is a broader

issue that goes beyond the scope of this paper. It is important, however, to recognize that Black offenders are more likely to be classified as maximum security and are overrepresented in involuntary segregation and use of force incidents. Black offenders have also reported that their health care and cultural needs are not met in federal corrections. These experiences must be considered when addressing mental health care in correctional facilities.

Mental health treatment and services

Offenders with mental illness are extremely vulnerable in the federal and provincial corrections systems. These individuals report that they feel unsafe and are the victims of intimidation and violence by other offenders¹⁵⁹ and correctional staff. Offenders with mental illness do not manage well in prison as demonstrated through disruptive behaviour, aggression, violence, withdrawal, and refusal or inability to follow orders and rules. This can be influenced by the interruption, change or discontinuation of offenders' medications when they are admitted into a correctional facility.

Federal Corrections

Offenders in the federal corrections system are often unable to access timely and effective mental health care¹⁶² and this is particularly true for female offenders.¹⁶³ Federal offenders with acute and complex mental illness are supposed to receive treatment and stabilization at one of five Residential Treatment Centres (RTCs), but inadequate resourcing has led to deterioration in services and these centres no longer provide a full spectrum of mental health care.¹⁶⁴ They also do not offer treatment to all offenders with acute and complex mental illness. Those whose sole mental illness is substance use disorder or anti-social personality disorder are not normally accepted into RTCs.¹⁶⁵ Other concerns with RTCs include: patient-staff ratios that are below acceptable standards; staff not having the skillsets to treat patients with complex mental illness; and problems with the physical infrastructure.¹⁶⁶

There are fewer than 200 RTC beds for male offenders and only 20 for female offenders, with no standalone mental health treatment facility for women. Female offenders with acute and complex mental illness are typically treated in maximum security units where staff are not equipped to meet their needs and other offenders can be negatively impacted by deteriorating behaviours. The limited capacity of RTCs to meet the clinical needs of offenders with acute and complex mental illness can result in the over-use of security measures such as physical restraints and segregation, even for those who are at high risk of self-injury and/or suicide. The security measures are such as physical restraints and segregation, even for those who are at high risk of self-injury and/or suicide.

The Office of the Correctional Investigator has made several recommendations to improve mental health care in federal prisons, including enhancing clinical independence (health care is currently the responsibility of Correctional Services Canada (CSC) and not the federal Ministry of Health) and developing transfer agreements with community psychiatric hospitals to treat

those with more complex illnesses.¹⁷⁰ Creating more intermediate mental health care beds has also been proposed to ensure that those with serious, but less acute mental illness get the treatment that they need.¹⁷¹ CSC has begun to develop intermediate mental health care units however, a preliminary review of these units indicate that they are primarily diverting offenders away from segregation instead of serving a therapeutic purpose.¹⁷² The government did recently pass *Bill C-83* to reform segregation in prisons (see more below) and it is understood that this legislation will be supported by further investments in and improvements to mental health care in corrections, including a focus on prevention, early intervention and patient advocacy.¹⁷³

While not specific to mental health, federal correctional facilities offer a range of culturally specific programs and services that can provide additional support to Indigenous offenders with mental illness, ¹⁷⁴ though better access to and availability of these programs is needed. ¹⁷⁵ Healing Lodges, for example, provide Indigenous communities the opportunity to provide care and custody to Indigenous offenders through agreements with CSC. Indigenous offenders who are released from Healing Lodges are more likely to successfully integrate back into the community than those who have been discharged from other CSC institutions. ¹⁷⁶ Unfortunately, Healing Lodges are not widely available across the country due to various challenges with the program. ¹⁷⁷

Provincial Corrections

Ontario's correctional facilities have difficulty meeting the needs of offenders with complex illnesses, ¹⁷⁸ particularly those with serious mental illness. ¹⁷⁹ Reviews have found that mental health care and services in the province's jails are inadequate and inconsistent ¹⁸⁰ and that access to prescription medications, counselling and programming is limited. ¹⁸¹ In 2015, new correctional policies were introduced that require mental health screening upon admission, ongoing mental health assessments, Care and Treatment Plans and alternatives to segregation for offenders with mental illness. ¹⁸² Due to lack of supports and resources, however, these policies have not translated into practice and the province's jails continue to rely on segregation to manage those with mental illness. ¹⁸³

Mental health care that is available in provincial corrections is not always equitable. The three treatment centres that offer specialized care to offenders with mental illness are only open to male offenders, despite the higher proportion of female offenders with mental health alerts 184 (though the provincial government recently announced funding for dedicated mental health units for female offenders with acute mental health needs). 185 There is also limited mental health care and services that address the unique challenges experienced by female offenders (e.g. motherhood, histories of physical and sexual abuse). 186 Indigenous offenders have very limited access to culturally appropriate programs and services and they are less likely than

other offenders to receive mental health care while incarcerated. ¹⁸⁷ There is also concern that the remand population, who make up about 2/3 of all offenders in provincial prisons, ¹⁸⁸ have significantly limited access to mental health care ¹⁸⁹ and community programming. ¹⁹⁰ This is particularly concerning given that those on remand engage in self-harm and die by suicide at higher rates than offenders who are serving sentences. ¹⁹¹

Similar to the federal system, part of the reason for the inadequate provision of health care is the lack of clinical independence and the tendency to prioritize security concerns over health care needs. 192 Health care in provincial correctional facilities is delivered by the Ministry of the Solicitor General and there is no requirement for this Ministry to align its health care provision with that of the provincial Ministry of Health. The lack of alignment between the two Ministries impacts the quality of health care provided in correctional facilities as well as the continuation of health care between jail and community (which is crucial given the short amount of time many offenders spend in provincial correctional facilities). 193 To address these challenges, the Independent Advisor on Corrections Reform proposed the creation of a new model of holistic health care in Ontario's correctional facilities that includes transferring provision to the Ministry of Health.¹⁹⁴ The Correctional Services Transformation Act (2018), while not yet in force, outlines the province's plan to provide equitable health care in jails, establish clinical independence, develop community connections and ensure that there are mental health care teams in all facilities. No explicit transfer of health care provision to the Ministry of Health is included in the Act. However, in the summer of 2018, an Expert Advisory Committee did provide the province with a plan to transform health care in correctional facilities, including the transfer of care provision to the Ministry of Health. The province has not yet acted on the committee's seven recommendations.

The Forensic Early Intervention Service: Improving mental health care in Ontario jails

While the provision of adequate and consistent mental health care in the province's jails remains a major challenge, one program is demonstrating success in connecting people with mental illness to the care and supports that they need. The Forensic Early Intervention Service (FEIS) is Ontario's first forensic mental health service embedded within provincial correctional facilities and is a partnership between CAMH and the Government of Ontario. FEIS operates at the Toronto South Detention Centre (TSDC) and the Vanier Centre for Women (VCW). The program uses the Screening, Triage, Assessment, Intervention and Re-integration (STAIR) model which is based on key service elements required for correctional mental health services¹⁹⁵, with the addition of a two-stage screening process and an integrated care pathway outlining how mental health services should be organized and provided to people entering the corrections

system. STAIR also includes monitoring and measuring techniques as a core function of the model. 196

FEIS aims to build links between the forensic and criminal justice systems by providing mental health screening and assessment to offenders whose serious mental illness may make them UST or may qualify them for an NCR defense. Offenders that meet these criteria become clients of a multi-disciplinary FEIS team from CAMH. They receive brief therapeutic interventions, psycho-education, referrals to additional mental health services and a coordinated reintegration plan (if applicable). Offenders with mental illness that do not meet the criteria for FEIS may receive brief case management from FEIS and are referred back to the correctional health care staff for support. At TSDC, FEIS also co-ordinates access to CAMH's High Needs Service where offenders experiencing an acute mental health crisis can be transferred to the hospital for short-term care.

FEIS began clinical operations at TSDC in 2015 and between that time and 2017 the number of referrals to the service increased from 1212 to 2203 and the number of ongoing FEIS clients more than doubled. PD During the first nine months of operation at VCW, FEIS received 1214 referrals accounting for 58% of all new admissions to the correctional facility. PA nevaluation of FEIS found that it was successful at improving access to and engagement in mental health care and treatment for offenders, coordinating and facilitating client cases through the criminal justice and forensic systems, and enhancing continuity of care via improved communication between courts, jails and forensic hospitals. PC Collaboration between FEIS and corrections staff also contributed to enhanced quality and coordination of care for offenders with mental illness.

Substance Use Treatment and Harm Reduction

Federal Corrections

Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) is a growing and challenging problem across Canada, including in the corrections system. In 2015, 30% of federally sentenced women and 21% of federally sentenced men had a history of injection drug use. ²⁰¹ Canadian guidelines for the treatment of OUD strongly recommend Opioid Agonist Treatment (OAT) with buprenorphine/naloxone as a first-line treatment while recognizing the benefits of other OATs such as methadone. ²⁰² Evidence demonstrates that Methadone Maintenance Treatment (MMT) and other treatment and harm reduction services like needle exchange programs have positive impacts on both offenders and correctional facilities. ²⁰³ CSC offers MMT as part of a broader suite of OAT and harm reduction measures, such as naloxone and the Prison Needle Exchange Program (PNEP). ²⁰⁴ Offenders with substance use disorders also have access to peer support, Narcotics Anonymous and substance abuse programming. ²⁰⁵ For example, CSC's Integrated Correctional

Program Model uses Cognitive Behaviour Therapy-based interventions to help offenders address their substance abuse and other factors that contributed to their criminal activity. 206

Despite the variety of substance use and harm reduction programming offered by CSC, not all offenders who need these services actually receive them. The PNEP, for example, has inherent restrictions to enrollment leading few offenders to participate in the program. While the CSC reports that 79% of offenders with a known substance use disorder have been enrolled in or are currently involved in a substance use treatment program (FY 2015-2016), only about 7% of the correctional population was receiving OAT as of April 2017. Recently, the Correctional Investigator expressed concern that CSC was not providing adequate substance abuse treatment or programming and called for more substance abuse services, including improved access to OAT. DOES in the correction of the correction of

Provincial Corrections

There is concern about limited access to quality treatment, counselling, programming and harm reduction alternatives for offenders with substance use disorders in Ontario's correctional facilities. ²¹⁰ A 2018 Coroner's Jury that reviewed the overdose deaths of eight offenders in the province's jails made numerous recommendations to improve outcomes for offenders with substance use disorders. These recommendations included the need for individualized care and treatment plans, training for all staff on the signs of overdose and naloxone administration, well-communicated harm reduction policies, connections to substance use programs upon discharge and tracking of overdoses and naloxone usage. ²¹¹ According to the Solicitor-General, 80% of these recommendations are completed or underway, however, the recent overdose of six offenders in one Ontario correctional facility has reignited concerns about how well provincial jails are meeting the needs of offenders with substance use disorders. ²¹²

Segregation

Segregation is overused in Canada's correctional facilities to manage people with mental illness as well as those at risk of self-harm and suicide. Prolonged segregation can exacerbate symptoms of mental illness, cause irreversible psychological and physiological harm and is an inappropriate response to offenders with mental illness. He Mandela Rules prohibit the use of segregation for prisoners with physical or mental disabilities in situations where it could lead to exacerbation of symptoms. They also prohibit segregation for more than 15 consecutive days for all offenders. While the Mandela Rules are important international guidelines, it is actually several court decisions across Canada that have fueled recent reforms in segregation at the federal and provincial levels. Properties of the p

Federal Corrections

There has been a significant reduction in the use of segregation in federal correctional facilities over the past few years along with a decline in the average length of time offenders spend in segregation. Pediction in the use of the segregation has not had a negative impact on the safety and security of offenders or correctional services staff. Deaths in segregation have also declined recently, though suicide still accounts for 90% of all non-natural deaths in segregation and suicides in segregation comprise about 37% of all suicides in the federal corrections system.

In October 2018, the federal government introduced Bill C-83, *An Act to amend the Corrections and Conditional Release Act and another Act* that officially eliminated segregation and replaced it with Structured Intervention Units (SIU) where more opportunities for human contact and programming are to be provided. Offenders in SIU are required to spend a minimum of 4 hours outside of their cell every day and two of those hours must include an opportunity to interact with others. *Bill C-83* also provides more autonomy to health care providers, including the requirement that offenders in SIU receive daily health care visits and be referred for a mental health assessment when displaying signs of distress. SIUs do not differ physically from segregation, however, and offenders are still housed in segregation cells. ²¹⁹ *Bill C-83* does not put a limit on the number of consecutive days an offender can spend in a SIU and some critics have referred to SIUs as just 'segregation by another name' or 'segregation light'. ²²¹
Concerns have also been raised recently that the expert advisory panel tasked with oversight of SIU implementation have not been able to fulfill their mandate because they were not given the data they needed to complete this task. ²²²

Provincial Corrections

While the use of segregation is decreasing in the federal corrections system, it has been increasing in Ontario's correctional facilities despite an overall decrease in the number of people in jail. ²²³ An Independent Review in 2017 found that about 575 offenders were in segregation on any given day and 70% of these individuals were on remand. ²²⁴ Offenders with mental illness or those at risk of suicide were more likely to be in segregation and spend longer in segregation. ²²⁵ The review found that the number of offenders with mental illness or suiciderisk alerts in segregation was increasing even though the number of offenders with mental illness or suicide-risk alerts in the overall corrections system did not increase during this time. ²²⁶ Some offenders were spending weeks and months in segregation and the review found that in 2016, 1300 offenders spent 60 or more aggregate days in segregation. ²²⁷ A more recent report from Ontario's Auditor General found that from April 2018 to April 2019 almost 2/3 of offenders in segregation for over 60 days had a mental health alert on file and that these offenders were in segregation for an average of 146 aggregate days. ²²⁸

The 2017 Independent Review found that Ontario's policies for segregation in corrections were insubstantial and implemented inconsistently across the province.²²⁹ Safeguards, oversight mechanisms and data collection were weak and there were problems with staffing and infrastructure.²³⁰ The review said that inadequate mental health care was the reason for the increase in people with mental illness and suicide-risk alerts in segregation.²³¹

Based on recommendations from the Independent Review, the Ontario government included measures to reform segregation in the *Correctional Services Transformation Act (2018)*. Along with improvements to mental health care, the *Act* prohibits the use of segregation for people with mental illness and those at risk of self-harm or suicide. It also requires regular mental health monitoring for any offender in segregation. The *Act* also capped the number of consecutive days that an offender can spend in segregation at 15. As noted earlier however, while the *Correctional Services Transformation Act (2018)* was passed in 2018, it has not yet been put into force.

Discharge planning and supports

Offenders with mental illness are more likely to come back into contact with the criminal justice system than offenders without mental illness.²³² Poor discharge planning that sees offenders with mental illness released to no fixed address and without adequate medications contributes to this cyclical pattern,²³³ as do release plans with unrealistic expectations that set people up to breach conditions.²³⁴ Therefore, comprehensive discharge planning is crucial for offenders with mental illness to ensure that they successfully transition back into the community and stay there.

Ensuring that offenders are released with stable housing is key to successful re-integration, though this remains a significant challenge for offenders being released from both federal and provincial correctional facilities. ²³⁵ It is also vital that offenders with mental illness be connected to employment or other forms of financial assistance as well as community services. ²³⁶ Those with concurrent disorders need access to substance use treatment. ²³⁷ Successful discharge planning for offenders with mental illness also requires adequate medication, appointments with outpatient clinics, psychiatrists or counselling services, and the involvement of prison and parole authorities. Forensic Assertive Community Treatment (FACT) models, for example, can assist in keeping offenders with mental illness engaged with mental health services after discharge as well as keep them from reengaging with the criminal justice system. ²³⁸ Continuity of care is also important. Offenders who are enrolled in mental health and/or substance use programs before discharge and are able to continue these programs in the community after discharge are more likely to remain in treatment and are less likely to reoffend. ²³⁹

Federal Corrections

At the federal level, CSC's Community Mental Health Initiative (CMHI) provides individualized discharge planning for offenders with mental illness and specialized community mental health services at select parole sites.²⁴⁰ CMHI staff also work with local agencies to provide support to offenders with mental illness upon discharge.²⁴¹ Evidence demonstrates that offenders who receive specialized community mental health services at parole sites are significantly less likely to reoffend and return to custody than those who only receive individualized discharge planning supports.²⁴² Difficulty in finding physicians and community mental health providers who will accept referrals from offenders being discharged from correctional facilities²⁴³ may explain why dedicated specialized community mental health services appear to be most effective for this population. CSC can also connect offenders with mental illness to other programs that contribute to successful discharge such as community-based Methadone Maintenance Programs for those with a history of problematic opioid use and Section 84 release plans for Indigenous offenders.²⁴⁴ A Section 84 release plan involves collaboration between the Parole Board of Canada and an Indigenous community to set conditions for an offender who wants to be discharged to their home community. These release plans are underused for various reasons.²⁴⁵

Provincial Corrections

Discharge planning in Ontario's correctional facilities is inadequate and inconsistent. Policies provide little direction to staff on when and how to establish effective discharge plans for offenders and only 5 out of 26 facilities have a staff member solely dedicated to discharge planning. The vast majority of offenders do not receive quality discharge planning and those on remand rarely receive any discharge planning services at all. This is concerning because even a short stay in jail can disrupt housing, employment and medical care. While overall discharge planning is lacking, offenders with mental illness appear to be a priority and those who are involved in the FEIS program receive the most comprehensive discharge supports. The *Correctional Services Transformation Act, 2018* includes improvements to discharge planning.

What we can do

Addressing the criminalization of mental illness must be a priority for governments and decision-makers. Given the various factors that can lead a person with mental illness to become involved with the criminal justice system and the numerous prevention, diversion and treatment alternatives, CAMH offers six principles to guide public policy in this area.

Principles for a comprehensive approach to mental health and criminal justice

1. Preventing people with mental illness from entering the criminal justice system must be a priority

- The connection between mental health, social determinants of health and criminal justice system involvement is well-recognized and guides development of prevention-focused public policy.
- Public policy seeks to reduce the over-representation of Indigenous, Black and other racialized people at the intersection of the criminal justice and mental health systems by addressing root causes, including anti-Indigenous and anti-Black racism.
- Investments in mental health care are a priority. Mental health care receives the same recognition and funding as physical health care.
- People with mental illness are readily able to access a range of evidence-informed mental health care and supports to meet their diverse needs. Access to care is equitable across the country.
- People with mental illness with additional risk factors for criminal justice involvement/re-involvement receive targeted mental health-focused interventions.
- Community crisis response models replace police response models. People with mental illness who experience a crisis in the community have rapid access to emergency mental health care. Community crisis workers are readily dispatched to provide mental health care to any person in crisis at any time and in any place.
- People with mental illness, including those involved in the criminal justice system, have a livable income and access to a range of affordable and supportive/supported housing options.

2. People with mental illness who become involved in the criminal justice system should have access to range of diversion and release options

Examples of action that results from this principle:

- All police services have pre-charge diversion programs and/or referral partnerships with local community mental health and social service agencies. Programs and partnerships offer culturally appropriate care and supports.
- All police services and local emergency departments have a transfer of care protocol for people with mental illness brought to hospital under provincial mental health legislation.
- Evidence-informed court supports and post-charge diversion are available to everyone with mental illness who enters the criminal court system.
- There is equitable access to evidence-informed mental health courts, drug treatment courts and Gladue Courts across the country.
- All offenders with mental illness who meet the criteria for a NCR defense are able to pursue this defense. NCR provisions of the Criminal Code are interpreted and applied consistently across the country.
- Forensic inpatient facilities are able to accommodate all offenders designated UST or NCR in a safe and timely manner.
- People with mental illness in the corrections system have access to culturally appropriate custody (e.g. Healing Lodges) and community-based sentences.

3. People with mental illness in the corrections system should receive evidence-informed mental health care and supports

- Health care practices in federal and provincial corrections comply with the UN's Mandela Rules.
- Health care in correctional facilities is provided by a separate health care entity.
 Mental health care is part of this entity and under the direction of forensic mental health care experts.

- Correctional facilities use the STAIR model to identify mental health needs and guide mental health care provision.
- Mental health care is equitable and meets the diverse needs of women, Indigenous peoples, Black people and members of other racialized and/or historically marginalized populations. Offenders on remand receive the same evidenceinformed mental health care and supports as the sentenced population.
- The full range of evidence-based interventions for substance use, including harm reduction programs and supplies, are made available to all offenders who need them.
- The federal and provincial corrections systems balance the need to manage institutional safety and security with an individual's right to access mental health care.

4. People with mental illness involved in the criminal justice system should be treated with respect and dignity and their safety made paramount

- It is an expectation of all employees and representatives of the criminal justice system that they interact compassionately and respectfully with people with mental illness.
- De-escalation through communication and negotiation is the default response in all police interactions with people in crisis.
- Police officers and correctional officers receive trauma-informed, mandatory, standardized and practical de-escalation training as new recruits and on a regularlyscheduled and ongoing basis.
- The threshold for CEW use aligns with Justice Iacobucci's recommendation: CEWs should only be used when 'a subject is causing bodily harm or poses an immediate risk of bodily harm to the officer or another person, and no lesser force option, deescalation or other crisis intervention technique is available or effective'.²⁵⁰
- Correctional officers receive training in trauma awareness, de-escalation, crisis intervention and recognizing/responding to overdoses.

- Segregation in correctional facilities is used only as a security response, never a
 health care response. Correctional authorities work to eliminate the use of
 segregation. Segregation is subject to external oversight.
- People with diagnosed serious mental illness are never placed in segregation.
- Regular mental health monitoring is provided to all offenders in segregation or segregation-like facilities.
- People with lived experience of mental illness are involved in the planning and development of mental health and criminal justice system strategies, programs and trainings.

5. There should be collaboration and coordination between the criminal justice system and the mental health system

- People with mental illness experience a continuity of their mental health care, including substance use treatment, as they transition through the criminal justice system and particularly as they move from the community to the corrections system and vice versa.
- People with mental illness in correctional facilities receive comprehensive discharge planning that includes connections to mental health care, medications, social services, and other community resources before discharge.
- Correctional facilities have partnerships with forensic mental health inpatient programs to temporarily transfer care of offenders with mental illness in need of acute mental health care.
- Forensic mental health programs have partnerships with supportive housing programs and community mental health services.
- Government policy supports and enhances connections between the criminal justice system and the mental health system.

6. Policy decisions should be evidence-informed and research should be supported

Examples of action that results from this principle:

- Government policy reflects an understanding of the criminalization of mental illness and strives to address this problem through prevention, diversion and treatment.
- Police, courts and corrections collect data, including race-based data, and measure impact of their prevention, diversion and/or treatment practices (or lack thereof) on people with mental illness.
- There is support and funding for (further) research on/evaluation of:
 - Community crisis response models to measure effectiveness and establish best practices.
 - De-escalation/crisis intervention training for police and correctional officers to determine how best to translate training into practice.
 - CEWs to assess their impact on people with mental illness and others in crisis.
 - o Court supports and specialized courts to establish best practices.
 - Other issues/interventions at the intersection of mental health and criminal justice.
- Research and evaluation results are used to inform government policy

Suggested citation

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (2020). *Mental Health and Criminal Justice Policy Framework*. Toronto: CAMH.

For more information

Roslyn Shields Senior Policy Analyst, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Roslyn.Shields@camh.ca 416 535-8501 ext. 32129

References

¹ Office of the Auditor General of Ontario (AGO). (2019). *Annual Report 2019. Reports on Correctional Services and Court Operations. Volume 3.* Toronto, Ontario: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario. Retrieved from: http://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en19/2019AR v3 en web.pdf

Ontario Provincial Police (OPP). (2015). *Ontario Provincial Police Mental Health Strategy: Our People, Our Communities*. Retrieved from: http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/mon/29012/333014.pdf

Sorenson, K. (2010). Mental health and drug and alcohol addiction in the federal correctional system.

Report of the Standing Committee on Public Safety and National Security. Ottawa, Ontario: Government of Canada. Retrieved from:

https://www.ourcommons.ca/Content/Committee/403/SECU/Reports/RP4864852/securp04/securp04-e.pdf

Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2018). *Annual Report 2017-2018*. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/annrpt/annrpt20172018-eng.pdf

Neilssen, O. and Large, M. (2008). Rates of homicide during the first episode of psychosis and after treatment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *36*(4), 702-712.

² Hartford, K., Carey R. and Mendonca, J. (2007). Pretrial court diversion of people with mental illness. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services Research*, *34*(2), 198-205.

³ Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC). (2006). *A program framework for: Mental health diversion/court support services*. Toronto, Ontario: Author. Retrieved from: <a href="http://www.carrieresantementale.ca/Resource%20Library/Mental%20Health%20Courts/A%20Program%20Framework%20for%20Mental%20Health%20Diversion%20and%20Court%20Support%20Services%20-%20Ontario%20-%202006.pdf

⁴ Independent Review of Ontario Corrections (IROC). (September, 2017). *Corrections in Ontario: Directions For Reform*. Toronto, Ontario: Ministry of the Solicitor General. Retrieved from: https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/sites/default/files/content/mcscs/docs/Corrections%20in%20Ontario%2C%20Directions%20for%20Reform.pdf

⁵ John Howard Society of Ontario (JHSO). (2015). *Unlocking change: Decriminalizing mental health issues in Ontario*. Retrieved from: http://www.johnhoward.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Unlocking-Change-Final-August-2015.pdf

⁶ Lamberti, J.S. (2007). Understanding and preventing criminal recidivism among adults with psychotic disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, *58*(6), 773-781.

⁷ John Howard, 2015; Sorenson, 2010

⁸ Housing, Health and Justice Community of Interest. (2019). *Closed quarters: Challenges and opportunities in stabilizing housing and mental health across the justice sector.* Toronto, Ontario: EENet, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: https://www.eenet.ca/sites/default/files/2018/Housing%20Health%20and%20Justice%20COI%20Report-%20Final%20-%20Feb%2014%202019 0.pdf

⁹ Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH). (2020). Submission from Dr. Catherine Zahn, President

& CEO, CAMH. Toronto Police Services Board Virtual Town Hall July 9, 2020. Retrieved from: https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/pdfs---public-policy-submissions/toronto-police-services-board-july-9-2020-written-submission-pdf.pdf?la=en&hash=8E78A1CF3B86009076BEFCD236FF5FA6F3EC7922

Gillis, W. (2020, August 3). These mental health advocates are working on an alternative to police intervention when someone is in crisis. They say 'all of a sudden' people are interested. *Toronto Star*. Retrieved from: https://www.thestar.com/news/gta/2020/08/03/these-mental-health-advocates-are-working-on-an-alternative-to-police-intervention-when-someone-is-in-crisis-they-say-all-of-a-sudden-people-are-interested.html

¹⁰ Lindstrom, V., Sturesson, L. & Carlborg, A. (2019). Patients' experiences of the caring encounter with the psychiatric emergency response team in the emergency medical service—A qualitative interview study. *Health Expectations*, (23), 442-449.

Paton, F., Wright, K., Ayre, N. Dare, C., Johnson, S., Lloyd-Evans, B.,... Meader, N. (2016). Improving outcomes for people in mental health crisis: a rapid synthesis of the evidence for available models of care. *Health Technology Assessment, 20*(3), 1-162.

¹¹ White Bird Clinic. (2020). *Crisis Assistance Helping out on the Streets (CAHOOTS). White Bird Clinic, Eugene, Oregon. Media Guide 2020.* Retrieved from: https://whitebirdclinic.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/CAHOOTS-Media.pdf

¹² Ibid

¹³ Adelman, J. (2003). *Study in blue and grey. Police interventions with people with mental illness: A review of challenges and responses.* Vancouver, BC: Canadian Mental Health Association. Retrieved from: https://cmha.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/policereport.pdf

¹⁴ Brink, J., Livingston, J. Desmarais, S., Greaves, C., Maxwell, V. and Michalak, E.,...Weaver, C.(2011). *A study of how people with mental illness perceive and interact with the police.* Calgary, Alberta: Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/Law How People with Mental Illness Perceive Interact Police Study ENG 1 0 1.pdf

¹⁵ Toronto Police Services (TPS). (2015). *Corporate Risk Management Annual Report 2015*. Retrieved from: https://www.torontopolice.on.ca/publications/files/reports/crm2015annualreport.pdf

¹⁶ Durbin, J., Lin, E. and Zaslavska, N. (2010). *Impact Study, Final Report: A study of hospital emergency service use, crisis service delivery and police response after mental health system enhancements.*Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://eenet.ca/sites/default/files/wpcontent/uploads/2013/10/june-2010.pdf

¹⁷ OPP, 2015

¹⁸ Brink et al, 2011

¹⁹ Dubé, P. (2018). *Oral submission to Standing Committee on Justice Policy regarding Bill 175, Safer Ontario Act, 2017.* Toronto, Ontario: Ombudsman Ontario. Retrieved from: https://www.ombudsman.on.ca/resources/speeches-and-articles/speeches/2018/oversight-enhanced-submission-to-the-standing-committee-on-justice-policy-regarding-bill-175,-safe

²⁰ Marcoux, J. and Nicholson, K. (2018). Deadly force. Fatal encounters with police in Canada 2000-2017.

CBC News. Retrieved from: https://newsinteractives.cbc.ca/longform-custom/deadly-force

McNeilly, G. (2017). *Police Interactions with People in Crisis and Use of Force. OIPRD Systemic Review Interim Report.* Toronto, Ontario: Office of the Independent Police Review Director (OIPRD). Retrieved from: https://www.oiprd.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/Police-Interactions-with-People-in-Crisis-and-Use-of-Force-Systemic-Review-Report-March-2017-Small.pdf

https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/TEMPO%252520Police%252520Interactions%252520 082014 0.pdf

Dubé, P. (2016). A Matter of Life and Death. Investigation into the direction provided by the Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services to Ontario's police services for de-escalation of conflict situations. Toronto, Ontario: Ombudsman Ontario. Retrieved from: https://www.ombudsman.on.ca/resources/reports-and-case-summaries/reports-on-investigations/2016/a-matter-of-life-and-death

Lamanna, D., Kirst, M., Shapiro, G., Matheson, F., Nakhost, A. and Stergiopoulos, V. (2015). *Toronto Mobile Crisis Intervention Team (MCIT): Outcome Evaluation Report.* Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Research on Inner City Health, St. Michael's Hospital. Retrieved from: http://stmichaelshospitalresearch.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/MCIT-outcome-evaluation-Final-report.pdf

Andersen, J.P., Papazoglou, K., Nyman, M., Koskelainen, M. and Gustafsberg, H. (2015a). Fostering resilience among the police. *Journal of Law Enforcement*. Open Access: 2161-0231, 5(1).

²¹ Marcoux & Nicholson, 2018

²² Coleman, T. and Cotton, D. (2014). *TEMPO: Police Interactions. A report towards improving interactions between police and people living with mental health problems.* Ottawa, Ontario: Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved from:

²³ Coleman & Cotton, 2014

²⁴ Compton, M.T., Bahora, M., Watson, A.C. and Oliva, J.R. (2008). A comprehensive review of extant research on crisis intervention team (CIT) programs. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, *36*(1), 47-55.

²⁵ Dubé, 2016; Coleman & Cotton, 2014

²⁶ Coleman & Cotton, 2014

²⁷ Dubé, 2016

²⁸ Dubé, 2018; Coleman & Cotton, 2014

²⁹ Coleman & Cotton, 2014

³⁰ Gronholm, P.C., Henderson, C., Deb, T. and Thornicroft, G. (2017). Interventions to reduce discrimination and stigma: The state of the art. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *52*(3), 249-258.

³¹ Dubé, 2018

³² Andersen, J.P., Papazoglou, K., Koskelainen, M., Nyman, M., Gustafsberg, H. and Arnetz, B.B. (2015b). Applying resilience promotion training among special forces police officers. *Journal of Police Emergency Response*, Sage Open. 2015; 5(2). doi: 10.1177/2158244015590446.

³³ Dubé, 2016

Nasser, S. (2017, July 31). What if instead of 'Drop your weapon' police asked 'How can I help?' *CBC News*. Retrieved from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/inquest-recommendations-michael-macisaac-police-1.4228506

³⁴ O'Brien, A.J., McKenna, B.G., Thom, K., Diesfeld, K. and Simpson, A.I.F. (2011). Use of Tasers on people with mental illness: A New Zealand database study. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *34*(1), 39-43.

³⁵ Bailey, C.A., Smock, W.S., Melendez, A.M. and El-Mallakh, R.S. (2016). Conducted-Energy Device (Taser) usage in subjects with mental illness. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and Law,* 44(2), 213-217.

³⁶ Spurr, B. (2013, August 28). Experts warn of Taser abuse. *Now.* Retrieved from: https://nowtoronto.com/news/experts-warn-of-taser-abuse/

³⁷ Iacobucci, F. (2014). *Police Encounters with People in Crisis. An independent review conducted by the Honourable Frank Iacobucci for Chief of Police William Blair, Toronto Police Service.* Toronto, Ontario: Toronto Police Service. Retrieved from: https://www.torontopolice.on.ca/publications/files/reports/police encounters with people in crisis 2014.pdf

³⁸ Braidwood Commission on Conducted Energy Weapon Use. (2009). *Restoring public confidence. Restricting the use of conducted energy weapons in British Columbia.* Vancouver, British Columbia: The Braidwood Commission on Conducted Energy Weapon Use. Retrieved from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/law-crime-and-justice/about-bc-justice-system/inquiries/braidwoodphase1report.pdf

³⁹ Ibid

⁴⁰ as cited in Bailey et al, 2016

⁴¹ White, M.D. and Ready, J. (2010). The impact of Tasers on suspect resistance: Identifying predictors of effectiveness. *Crime and Delinquency*, *56*(1), 70-103.

⁴² Ministry of the Solicitor General (MSG). (2017). *Verdict of Coroner's Jury. Office of the Chief Coroner. The Coroner's Act-Province of Ontario*. Retrieved from: https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/Deathinvestigations/Inquests/Verdictsandrecommendations/OCCInquestLoku2017.html

⁴³ CBC. (2015). *Hold your fire*. Canada: CBC/Radio-Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.cbc.ca/player/play/2682348462

⁴⁴ Sorenson, 2010

⁴⁵ Provincial Human Services and Justice Coordinating Committee (PHSJCC). (2011). *Police and mental health: A critical review of joint police/mental health collaborations in Ontario*. Toronto, Ontario: PHSJCC. Retrieved from: http://carrieresantementale.ca/Resource%20Library/Policing/PHSJCC Police-MH Final Report January 31 2011.pdf

⁴⁶ Durbin, Lin, & Zaslavska, 2010

⁴⁷ PHSJCC, 2011

⁴⁸ Durbin, Lin, & Zaslavska, 2010

⁴⁹ Wilson-Bates, F. and Chu, J. (2008). *Lost in transition: How a lack of capacity in the mental health system is failing Vancouver's mentally ill and draining police resources*. Vancouver, British Columbia.

Vancouver Police Department. Retrieved from: https://www.cbc.ca/bc/news/bc-080204-VPD-mental-health-report.pdf

⁵⁰ Provincial Human Services and Justice Coordinating Committee (PHSJCC). (2013). *HSJCC Info Guide:*Strategies for implementing effective police-emergency department protocols in Ontario.
Toronto, Ontario: PHSJCC. Retrieved from: https://hsjcc.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/HSJCC-Info-Guide-Strategies-for-Implementing-Effective-Police-Emergency-Department-Protocols-in-Ontario.pdf

⁵¹ PHSJCC, 2013; Adelman, 2003

⁵² PHSJCC, 2013

⁵³ PHSJCC. 2013

Cotton, D. and Coleman, T. (2015). *Contemporary policing guidelines for working with the mental health System 2015*. Ottawa, Ontario: Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/contemporary policing guidelines 2015 final 0.pdf

⁵⁴ HSJCC, 2011; Durbin, Lin & Zaslavska, 2010

⁵⁵ As cited in Shapiro, G.K., Cusi, A., Kirst, M, O'Campo, P., Nakhost, A. and Stergiopoulos, V. (2014). Co-responding police-mental health programs: A review. *Administration and policy in mental health, 42*(5), 606-620.

⁵⁶ Cotton & Coleman, 2015

⁵⁷ Lamanna et al, 2015

⁵⁸ PHSJCC, 2011

Forchuk, C., Jensen, E., Martin, M-L. and Csiernik, R. (2008). *Crisis Services: A comparative approach to evaluation. SEEI Phase II Report.* London, Ontario: Western. Retrieved from: https://www.eenet.ca/sites/default/files/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/crisis-services-final-report.pdf

⁵⁹ Shapiro et al, 2014

60 Ibid

⁶¹ Lamanna et al, 2015; Shapiro et al, 2014

62 Shapiro et al, 2014

63 Lamanna et al, 2015

⁶⁴ Shapiro et al, 2014

65 Lamanna et al, 2015

⁶⁶ MOHLTC, 2006

Provincial Human Services and Justice Coordinating Committee (PHSJCC). (2017). *Mental Health Courts in Ontario: A review of the initiation and operation of mental health courts across the province.*Toronto, Ontario: PHSJCC. Retrieved from: http://ontario.cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Mental-Health-Courts-in-Ontario-1.pdf

⁶⁷ PHSJCC, 2017

⁶⁸ Schneider, R.D. (2010). Mental health courts and diversion programs: A global survey. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 33(4), 201-206.

Sirotich, F. (2009). The criminal justice outcomes of jail diversion programs for persons with mental illness: A review of the evidence. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law, 37*(4), 461-472.

⁶⁹ Chaimowitz, G. (2012). The criminalization of people with mental illness. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 57*(2), [Insert], 1-6.

⁷⁰ MOHLTC, 2006

⁷¹ Aubry, T., Sylvestre, J., Smith, J., Miller, M. and Birnie, S. (2009). *Evaluation of the implementation and outcomes of the Canadian Mental Health Association, Ottawa branch's court outreach program.*Ottawa, Ontario: University of Ottawa. Retrieved from: http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/mon/23010/294293.pdf

⁷² Dewa, C.S., Chau, N., deRuiter, W., Loong, D., Trojanowski, L. and Yip, A. (2008). *The Matryoshka Project: Evaluating the effects of enhanced funding on specialize projects. Wave 3 report: Court support Programs. Version 2.* Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

⁷³ Aubry et al., 2009

⁷⁴ Legal Aid Ontario (2018). Justice in Time. Annual Report September 1, 2017-August 31, 2018.

⁷⁵ PHSJCC. 2017

⁷⁶ Schneider, 2010

⁷⁷ PHSJCC, 2017

⁷⁸ Sarteschi, C.M., Vaughan, M.G. and Kim, K. (2011). Assessing the effectiveness of mental health courts: A quantitative review. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *39*(1), 12-20.

⁷⁹ Loong, D., Bonato, S., Barnsley, J. and Dewa, C.S. (2019). The effectiveness of mental health courts in reducing recidivism in police contact: A systematic review. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *55*(7), 1073-1098.

80 as cited in Schneider, 2010

81 as cited in Schneider, 2010

Wales, H.W., Hiday, V.A. and Ray, B. (2010). Procedural justice and mental health court judge's role in reducing recidivism. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *33*(4), 265-271.

Public Safety Canada (PSC). (2007). *Toronto Drug Treatment Court Project*. Ottawa, Ontario: PSC. Retrieved from: https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/drgtrtmnt-trnt/index-en.aspx

87 Ibid

88 Latimer, Morton-Bourgon & Chrétien, 2006

89 Ibid

90 Ibid

91 PSC. 2007

Department of Justice (DOJ). (2017). Spotlight on Gladue: Challenges, experiences and possibilities in Canada's criminal justice system. Ottawa, Ontario: Government of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/jr/gladue/index.html

94 DOJ, 2017

95 Ibid

⁸² Sarteschi, Vaughan & Kim, 2011

⁸³ See for example Nellis, A. (2016). *The color of justice: Racial and ethnic disparity in state prisons*. Washington, DC: The Sentencing Project. Research and Advocacy for Reform. Retrieved from: https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/color-of-justice-racial-and-ethnic-disparity-in-state-prisons/

⁸⁴ Community of Interest for Racialized Populations and Mental Health and Addictions. (2019). *Racialized Populations and mental health court diversion*. Retrieved from: http://ontario.cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Racialized-Populations-and-MH-Court-Diversion-May-2019.pdf

⁸⁵ PHSJCC, 2017

⁸⁶ Latimer, J., Morton-Bourgon, K. and Chrétien, J. (2006). *A meta-analytic examination of drug treatment Courts: Do they reduce recidivism?* Ottawa, Ontario: Research and Statistics Divisions, Department of Justice. Retrieved from: https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/csj-sjc/jsp-sjp/rr06 7/index.html

⁹² PSC, 2007 Latimer; Morton-Bourgon & Chrétien, 2006

⁹³ Clark, S. (2016). *Evaluation of the Gladue Court, Old City Hall, Toronto*. Toronto: Ontario: Scott Clark Consulting Inc. for Aboriginal Legal Services. Retrieved from: https://www.aboriginallegal.ca/assets/gladue-court-evaluation---final.pdf

⁹⁶ Department of Justice (DOJ). (2013). *Gladue Practices in the Provinces and Territories*. Ottawa, Ontario: Government of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/csj-sjc/ccs-ajc/rr12 11/

⁹⁷ Clark, 2016

98 Ibid

¹⁰¹ Crocker, A.G., Charette, Y., Seto, M.C., Nicholls, T.L., Côté, G. and Caulet, M. (2015a). The National Trajectory Project of Individuals Found Not Criminally Responsible on Account of Mental Disorder Canada: Part 3: Trajectories and outcomes through the forensic system. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *60*(3), 117-126.

Latimer, J. and Lawrence, A. (2006). The review board systems in Canada: Overview of results from the mentally disordered accused data collection study. Ottawa, Ontario: Department of Justice Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/csj-sjc/jsp-sjp/rr06 1/index.html

102 Ibid

103 Latimer & Lawrence, 2006

104 Crocker et al, 2015a

Penney, S.R., Seto, M.C., Crocker, A.G., Nicholls, T.L., Grimbos, T., Darby, P.L. and Simpson, A.I.F. (2019). Changing characteristics of forensic psychiatric patients in Ontario: A population-based study from 1987 to 2012. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *54*(5), 627-638.

¹⁰⁵ Crocker, A.G., Nicholls, T.L., Seto, M.C. and Côté, G. (2015b). The National Trajectory Project of Individuals Found Not Criminally Responsible on Account of Mental Disorder Canada. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *60*(3), 96-97.

106 Crocker et al, 2015a

¹⁰⁷ Crocker, A.G., Nicholls, T.L., Seto, M., Charette, Y., Côté, G. and Caulet, M. (2015c). The National Trajectory Project of Individuals Found Not Criminally Responsible on Account of Mental Disorder Canada: Part 2: The people behind the label. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *60*(3), 106-116.

¹⁰⁸ Penney et al, 2019

¹⁰⁹ Crocker et al, 2015c; Miladinovic & Lukassen, 2015

¹¹⁰ Penney et al, 2019

¹¹¹ Miladinovic & Lukassen, 2015

¹¹² Crocker et al, 2015c

¹¹³ Charette, Y., Crocker, A.G., Seto, M.C., Salem, L., Nicholls, T.L. and Caulet, M. (2015). The National Trajectory Project of Individuals Found Not Criminally Responsible on Account of Mental Disorder Canada: Part 4: Criminal recidivism. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *60*(3), 127-134.

⁹⁹ Miladinovic, Z. and Lukassen. (2014). Verdicts of not criminally responsible on account of mental disorder in adult criminal courts, 2005/2006-2011/2012. 85-002-x. Retrieved from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2014001/article/14085-eng.htm

¹⁰⁰ Simpson, A.I.F., Penney, S.R., Seto, M.C., Crocker, A.G., Nicholls, T.L., Darby, P.L. (2014). *Changing characteristics of the review board population in Ontario: A population-based study from* 1987-2012. Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

¹¹⁴ Ministry of the Solicitor General (MSG). (2019a). *Rates of recidivism (re-conviction) in Ontario*. Retrieved from: https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/Corrections/RatesRecidivism.html

Stewart, L. and Wilton, G. (2019). *A comprehensive study of recidivism rates among Canadian federal offenders*. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/err-19-02-en.shtml

¹¹⁵ Charette et al, 2015

Simpson, A.I.F., Chatterjee, S., Duchcherer, M., Ray, I., Prosser, A. and Penney, S.R. (2018a). Short-term Outcomes for forensic patients receiving an absolute discharge under the Canadian Criminal Code. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry and Psychology*, 29(6), https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2018.1439992

- 116 Ibid
- ¹¹⁷ Charette et al, 2015
- ¹¹⁸ Penney et al, 2019
- 119 Ibid
- ¹²⁰ Nicholls, T.L., Crocker, A.G., Seto, M.C., Wilson, C.M., Charette, Y. and Côté, G. (2015). The National Trajectory Project of Individuals Found Not Criminally Responsible on Account of Mental Disorder Canada: Part 5: How essential are gender-specific forensic psychiatric services. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *60*(3), 135-145.
- 121 Crocker et al, 2015c
- ¹²² Ministry of Health (MOH). (1999). *Making it happen: Operational framework for the delivery of mental health services and supports*. Toronto, Ontario: Ministry of Health. Retrieved from: http://ontario.cmha.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/makingithappen2001.pdf
- ¹²³ Latimer & Lawrence, 2006
- ¹²⁴ Penney et al, 2019
- 125 Simpson et al, 2014
- ¹²⁶ Higgins, C., Weisberg, S. and Gug, O. (2013). *The changing landscape of the forensic system in Ontario*. Presentation to Human Services and Justice Coordination Committee Conference, November 25-27, 2013. Toronto, Ontario
- ¹²⁷ Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2014). *Annual Report 2013-2014*. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.ocibec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/annrpt/annrpt20132014-eng.pdf
- Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2016). *Annual Report 2015-2016*. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/annrpt/annrpt20152016-eng.pdf

¹²⁹ OCI. 2018

¹³⁰ OCI, 2014 ¹³¹ AGO. 2019 132 Ibid ¹³³ Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2019). Annual Report 2018-2019. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.ocibec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/annrpt/annrpt20182019-eng.pdf 134 Ibid ¹³⁵ Correctional Service Canada (CSC). (2017a). Annual Report on Deaths in Custody 2015/2016. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/005008-3010-en.shtml 136 Ibid 137 Ibid ¹³⁸ McKendy, L., Biro, S. and Keown, L. A. (2018). Overdose Incidents in Federal Custody, 2012/2013-2016/2017. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.cscscc.gc.ca/research/092/sr-18-02-en.pdf 139 Ibid 140 Ibid ¹⁴¹ Brown, G.P., Hirdes, J.P. and Fries, B.E. (2015). Measuring the prevalence of current, severe symptoms of mental health problems in a Canadian correctional population: Implications for delivery of mental health services for inmates. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 59(1), 27-50. ¹⁴² Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2012a). Annual Report 2011-2012. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/annrpt/annrpt20112012-eng.pdf ¹⁴³ McKendy, Biro & Keown 2018 144 Ibid ¹⁴⁵ OCI, 2014 ¹⁴⁶ OCI, 2019 ¹⁴⁷ OCI, 2018 ¹⁴⁸ Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2017). Annual Report 2016-2017. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/annrpt/annrpt20162017-eng.pdf

¹⁴⁹ OCI, 2019

¹⁵⁰ McKendy, Biro & Keown, 2018

¹⁵¹ Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2020). *Indigenous People in Federal Custody Surpasses* 30%. Correctional Investigator Issues Statement and Challenge. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/comm/press/press20200121-eng.aspx

152 Ibid

153 Ibid

¹⁵⁴ OCI, 2019

¹⁵⁵ Independent Review of Ontario Corrections (IROC). (March, 2017). *Segregation in Ontario*. Toronto, Ontario: Ministry of the Solicitor General. Retrieved from:

https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/sites/default/files/content/mcscs/docs/IROC%20Segregation%20Report%20ENG LISH%20FINAL 0.pdf

156 OCI, 2019

¹⁵⁷ OCI, 2017

158 OCI, 2019

Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2013). *Annual Report 2012-2013*. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/pdf/annrpt/annrpt20122013-eng.pdf

159 Sorenson, 2010

¹⁶⁰ Schizophrenia Society of Ontario (SSO). (2012). *Provincial correctional response to individuals with mental illness in Ontario: A review of the literature*. Retrieved from: https://www.schizophrenia.on.ca/SSO/media/SOO/PolicyAndAdvocacy/Papers/Provincial-Corrections-Literature-

Review-Final-March-2012.pdf

¹⁶¹ OCI, 2012a

¹⁶² OCI. 2018

¹⁶³ OCI, 2017

¹⁶⁴ Service, J. (2010). *Under warrant: A review of the implementation of the Correctional Service of Canada's 'Mental Health Strategy'*. Prepared for the Office of the Correctional Investigator of Canada. Kanata, Ontario: John Service Consultating. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/oth-aut/oth-aut/20100923-eng.aspx

¹⁶⁵ Correctional Service Canada (CSC). (2020). *Integrated Mental Health Guidelines*. Ottawa, Ontario: Government of Canada.

¹⁶⁶ OCI, 2018

167 Ibid

```
<sup>168</sup> OCI, 2017
<sup>169</sup> OCI, 2018; OCI, 2017; Service, 2010
<sup>170</sup> OCI, 2018; OCI, 2017
<sup>171</sup> OCI, 2017
<sup>172</sup> OCI, 2019
<sup>173</sup> Government of Canada. (2019). Stakeholder Roundtable on Bill C-83. January 17, 2019. Ottawa, Ontario.
<sup>174</sup> Correctional Service Canada (CSC). (2017b). Indigenous Corrections. Retrieved from:
https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/publications/005007-3001-eng.shtml
<sup>175</sup> OCI, 2019
```

¹⁷⁶ as cited in Combs, L. (2018). Healing ourselves: Interrogating the underutilization of Sections 81 & 84 of the Corrections and Conditional Release Act. Manitoba Law Journal, 41(3), 163-189.

¹⁷⁷ Office of the Correctional Investigator (OCI). (2012b). Spirit Matters: Aboriginal People and the Corrections and Conditional Release Act. Ottawa, Ontario: The Correctional Investigator of Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.oci-bec.gc.ca/cnt/rpt/oth-aut/oth-aut20121022-eng.aspx

¹⁷⁸ IROC, Sept 2017 ¹⁷⁹ IROC, March 2017; John Howard, 2015 ¹⁸⁰ SSO, 2012 ¹⁸¹ John Howard, 2015 ¹⁸² IROC, March 2017

¹⁸³AGO, 2019; IROC, March 2017

¹⁸⁴ AGO. 2019

¹⁸⁵ Lowrie, W. (2020, August 27). New jail, women's mental facility for Brockville. The Recorder and Times. Retrieved from: https://www.recorder.ca/news/local-news/new-jail-womens-mental-facility-for-brockville

Ministry of the Solicitor General (MSG). (2019b). Ontario's First Dedicated Mental Health Unit for Female Inmates. Investing to support women with acute mental health needs. Retrieved from: https://news.ontario.ca/mcscs/en/2019/12/ontarios-first-dedicated-mental-health-unit-for-femaleinmates.html?utm source=ondemand&utm medium=email&utm campaign=p

¹⁸⁶ SSO, 2012

187 Ibid

¹⁸⁸ IROC, Sept 2017

¹⁸⁹ SSO, 2012

¹⁹⁰ IROC, Sept 2017

¹⁹¹ as cited in John Howard, 2015

¹⁹² IROC, March 2017

¹⁹³ IROC, Sept 2017

194 Ibid

¹⁹⁵ Forrester, A., Till, A., Simpson, A. and Shaw, J. (2018). Mental illness and the provision of mental health services in prisons. *British Medical Bulletin*, 127(1), 101-109.

¹⁹⁶ Simpson, A.I.F., Moss, S., Patel, K., Sandhu, K. and Connors, T. (2017). *The Forensic Early Intervention Service at the Toronto South Detention Centre: A Report of our 2016 Year.* Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

¹⁹⁷ Simpson, A.I.F., Connors, T., Flora, N. and Patel, K. (2018b). *Forensic Early Intervention Service Annual Report 2017.* Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

198 Ibid

¹⁹⁹ Simpson, A.I.F., Flora, N., Moss, S., McNamee, J., Patel, K., Sandhu, K. and Connors, T. (2016). *The Forensic Early Intervention Service: A Report of the Inaugural Year.* Toronto, Ontario: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

²⁰⁰ Ibid

²⁰¹ OCI, 2019

²⁰² Canadian Research Initiative in Substance Misuse (CRISM). (2018). *CRISM National Guideline for the Clinical Management of Opioid Use Disorder*. Retrieved from: https://crism.ca/projects/opioid-guideline/

²⁰³ Cheverie, M., MacSwain, M., Farrell MacDonald, S. and Johnson, S. (2014). *Institutional adjustment of Methadone Maintenance Treatment Program (MMTP) participants*. (Research Report R-323). Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/005008-r323-eng.shtml

Stöver, H. and Nelles, J. (2003). Ten years of experience with prison needle and syringe exchange programmes in European prisons. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 14(5-6), 437-444.

²⁰⁴ McKendy, Biro & Keown, 2018

Correctional Service Canada (CSC). (2018). *Backgrounder: Correctional Service Canada Prison Needle Exchange Program.* Retrieved from: https://www.canada.ca/en/correctional-service-canada-prison-needle-exchange-program.html

²⁰⁵ Ibid

²⁰⁶ Nadeau, L., Brochu, S. and Cormier, R. (2018). Fourth independent review of non-natural deaths in

custody that occurred between April 1st 2014 and March 31st 2017. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/publications/005007-2310-en.shtml

²⁰⁷ OCI, 2019

²⁰⁸ Ibid

²⁰⁹ Bains, C. (2019, March 20). Former prisoner says he did not get addiction help despite repeatedly asking for treatment. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/article-former-prisoner-says-he-didnt-receive-addiction-help-despite/

²¹⁰ John Howard, 2015

²¹¹ Ministry of the Solicitor General (MSG). (2018). *Verdict of Coroner's Jury. Office of the Chief Coroner.*The Coroner's Act-Province of Ontario. Retrieved from:

https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/Deathinvestigations/Inquests/Verdictsandrecommendations/OCCInquesthWDC.html

²¹² Cook, S. (2019, May 8). Suspected drug overdoses at Ontario correctional facility lead to death, hospitalization. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/toronto/article-suspected-drug-overdoses-at-ontario-correctional-facility-lead-to/

²¹³ IROC, March 2017

²¹⁴ OCI. 2012a

White, P. (2020, February 13). Supreme Court to hear appeal on constitutionality of solitary-confinement law. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/article-supreme-court-to-hear-appeal-on-constitutionality-of-solitary/

²¹⁶ OCI, 2017

²¹⁷ Ibid

²¹⁸ as cited in OCI, 2018

²¹⁹ Government of Canada, 2019

²²⁰ White, 2020

²²¹ White, P. (2018, October 17). Liberals unveil bill to end solitary confinement in federal prisons. The Globe and Mail. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/article-liberals-introduce-bill-to-end-solitary-confinement-in-federal-prisons/

²²² Freeze, C. (2020, August 26). Ottawa urged to let panel finish work on solitary confinement reforms. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/article-ottawa-urged-to-let-panel-finish-work-on-solitary-confinement-reforms/

²²³ IROC, March 2017

²²⁴ Ibid

²²⁵ Ibid 226 Ibid 227 Ibid ²²⁸ AGO, 2019 ²²⁹ IROC, March 2017 ²³⁰ Ibid ²³¹ Ibid ²³² Brown, G.P. (2009). Seriously mentally ill inmates in Ontario correctional facilities: Prevalence, mental health care needs, and implications for correctional and mental health care policy. Presentation to Human Services and Justice Coordination Committee Conference, October 26-28, 2009. Niagara Falls, Ontario. ²³³ John Howard, 2015 ²³⁴ IROC, Sept, 2017 ²³⁵ Housing, Health and Justice Community of Interest, 2019 ²³⁶ Murphy, Y., Farihah, A. and Fischer, B. (2018). Health and service access challenges for correctional offenders with mental health and substance use problems in transition from incarceration to community: A literature review. (Research Report R-398). Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service

Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/r-398-en.shtml

Stewart, L.A., Farrell-MacDonald, S. and Feeley, S. (2017). The impact of a community mental health initiative on outcomes for offenders with a serious mental disorder. Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health, 27(4), 371-384.

²³⁷ Murphy, Farihah & Fischer, 2018

²³⁸ Simpson, A.I.F., McMaster, J.J. and Cohen, S.N. (2013). Challenges for Canada in meeting the needs of persons with serious mental illness in prison: A selective review. Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry, 41(4), 501-509.

²³⁹ Murphy, Farihah & Fischer, 2018

²⁴⁰ Correctional Service Canada (CSC). (2010). Community Mental Health Initiative. Quick Facts. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/publications/005007-3010-eng.shtml

241 Ibid

²⁴² Stewart, Farrell-MacDonald & Feeley, 2017

²⁴³ Service, 2010

²⁴⁴ MacSwain, M., Farrell-MacDonald, F. and Cheverie, M. (2014). *Post-release outcomes of Methadone Maintenance Treatment Program (MMTP) participants: A comparative study.* (Research Report R-322). Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/005008-0322-eng.shtml

²⁴⁵ OCI, 2012b

²⁴⁶ IROC, Sept, 2017

²⁴⁷ Ibid

²⁴⁸ Ibid

²⁴⁹ Ibid

²⁵⁰ Iacobucci, 2014